THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-08-02757

---

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 14 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Portrait Homes – South Carolina, LLC and  
Portrait Homes – Persimmon Hill, LLC;

Plaintiffs,

v.

Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company  
and The Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc.,

Defendants,

AND

The Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc.,

Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Jose Castillo d/b/a JJA Framing and  
JJA Construction, Inc. d/b/a JJA Framing,

Third-Party Defendants,

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### ***As to Appellee Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc***

1. Did the Trial Court Improperly Award Coverage to Jose Castillo and JJA Construction, Inc. After Castillo Advised Penn National That He Did Not Want a Defense and Refused to Cooperate with Penn National?
2. Did the Trial Court Improperly Fail to Find that Castillo's Conduct was a Violation of the Policy Conditions Precedent to Coverage?
3. Did the Trial Court Improperly Fail to Find that Breaches of the Policy Conditions Precedent to Coverage Resulted in Substantial Prejudice to Penn National?
4. Did the Trial Court Improperly Find as a Matter of Law that the HOA Satisfied the Elements of an Insurance Bad Faith Claim?
5. Did the Trial Court Improperly Find as a Matter of Law that Penn National Engaged in Willful, Reckless, or Wanton Behavior and award Punitive Damages?

### ***As to Appellees Portrait Homes***

1. Did the Trial Court Improperly Consider Parol Evidence To Award Coverage to Portrait Homes Where Portrait Homes Did Not Qualify as an "Additional Insured" Under the Plain Language of the Penn National Policies?
2. Did the Trial Court Improperly Find that Penn National Waived its Right to Contest Coverage such that the Waiver Operated to Expand Coverage to Uncovered Risks?
3. Did the Trial Court Improperly Find that Portrait Homes Sustained Damages for Breach of the Duty to Indemnify Where its Other Carriers Paid the Loss?
4. Did the Trial Court Improperly Find as a Matter of Law that Portrait Homes Satisfied the Elements of an Insurance Bad Faith Claim?
5. Did the Trial Court Improperly Find as a Matter of Law that Penn National Engaged in Willful, Reckless, or Wanton Behavior and award Punitive Damages?

### ***Issues Common to All Appellees***

1. Did the Trial Court Improperly Fail to Apply the Time-on-Risk Doctrine?
2. Did the Trial Court Improperly Award Attorneys' Fees?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This insurance coverage matter was commenced in the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Berkeley County, on December 29, 2014 when Appellees Portrait Homes – South Carolina, LLC and Portrait Homes – Persimmon Hill, LLC (together, “Portrait Homes”) filed suit against various insurance carrier defendants, including Appellant Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company (“Penn National”), and the Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc. (the “HOA”)<sup>1</sup>. *See generally*, Summons and Complaint. Portrait Homes asserted a single cause of action for Declaratory Relief, seeking a declaration that it qualified as an additional insured under the insurer-defendants’ policies, that it was owed a defense in underlying litigation, and that the insurer-defendants owed it for defense costs incurred to that point in time. [Complaint, pp. 12-13 (RI pp. 201-202)]. Portrait Homes’ action arose out of two underlying construction defect actions asserted against it related to a townhome project for which it served as the developer and general contractor: (1) *The Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc. v. Portrait Homes-South Carolina, LLC, et seq.*, Case No. 2012-CP-08-03065 (the “Persimmon Hill HOA Lawsuit”); and (2) “*Cheryl L. Waker, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated v. Portrait Homes-South Carolina, LLC, et seq.*”, Case No. 2012-CP-08-03066 (the “Persimmon Hill Class Action Lawsuit” and, together with the Persimmon Hill HOA Lawsuit, the “Persimmon Hill Litigation”), filed in the Court of Common Pleas, Berkeley County, South Carolina. Ultimately, Portrait Homes resolved its dispute with the carriers besides Penn National and amended its complaint to assert a cause of action against Penn National alone for breach of the duty to defend

---

<sup>1</sup> The HOA is nominally included as a defendant in Portrait Homes’ pleadings, but its causes of action never sought any relief against the HOA. *See* Complaint, pp. 12-13 (RI pp. 201-202); Amended Complaint, p. 5 (RI p. 220). The HOA admitted all allegations of each version of Portrait Homes’ Complaint. *See* HOA Answer to Complaint and Crossclaims, p. 2 (RI p. 209); HOA Answer to Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint, Crossclaims and Third Party Complaint, p. 2 (RI p. 225).

and indemnify with respect to the Persimmon Hill Litigation. *See generally*, Amended Complaint.

The HOA asserted cross-claims against Penn National for bad faith and violation of S.C. Code § 38-59-40 (contractual bad faith) and third party claims against defendants Jose Castillo d/b/a JJA Framing and “JJA Construction, Inc. d/b/a JJA Framing.” *See generally*, Answer and Cross-Claims. The HOA sought (1) to collect on a default judgment entered in its favor and against Castillo and “JJA Construction, Inc. d/b/a JJA Framing”; and (2) to collect damages for bad faith conduct related to Penn National’s handling of the insurance claim, which claim had been assigned it by Jose Castillo d/b/a JJA Framing and “JJA Construction, Inc. d/b/a JJA Framing.” *Id.*

Penn National denied the allegations asserted against it and defended the action on the grounds that it owed no duty to defend Portrait Homes, Jose Castillo d/b/a JJA Framing, or “JJA Construction, Inc. d/b/a JJA Framing” in the Persimmon Hill Litigation and that it had not acted in bad faith. *See generally*, Pennsylvania National’s Answer to Amended Complaint (RI p. 235); Pennsylvania National’s Answer to Crossclaims & Third Party Complaint (RI p. 242).

The case proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., heard February 4-7, 2019 and May 7-9, 2019. The court entered judgments in favor of Portrait Homes and the HOA on October 22, 2019. Order as to Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc.’s Claims of Bad Faith, Breach of Contract and Declaratory Judgment Against Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty Insurance Company (the “HOA Order”/RI p. 6); Order Regarding Additional Insured Coverage (the “Portrait Homes Order”/RI p. 51). Penn National timely moved to alter or amend the judgments pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, on November 1, 2019. The court denied Penn National’s motions to alter the judgments and granted in part its motion to amend the judgments, requesting that the HOA and Portrait Homes make clarifications to the orders they had drafted. The court entered its final judgments in favor of

Portrait Homes and the HOA on March 23, 2020 in the following amounts:

***As to Portrait Homes:***

• Breach of Contract – Duty to Defend	\$42,791.24
• Breach of Contract – Duty to Indemnify	\$2,500,000.00
• Prejudgment Interest	\$807,693.50
• Attorneys Fees & Costs	\$250,003.26
• Bad Faith Refusal to Pay	\$3,892,791.24
• <u>Punitive Damages</u>	<u>\$3,892,791.24</u>
• = Total Judgment for Portrait Homes	\$11,386,070.48

***As to the HOA:***

• Bad Faith Refusal to Pay	\$5,370,147.29
• HOA’s Judgment Creditor Claim	\$5,213,170.40
• <u>Punitive Damages</u>	<u>\$5,370,147.29</u>
• = Total Judgment for the HOA	\$15,953,464.98

Post-Trial Motions and Punitive Damages Order (the “Rule 59 Order”), at p. 69 (RI p. 176).

Penn National timely served and filed its Notice of Appeal of the judgments on April 22, 2020.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Penn National appeals from the trial court’s ruling following a bench trial. “On appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court’s jurisdiction is limited to correction of errors at law.” *Williams v. Moore*, 400 S.C. 90, 102, 733 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2012). An appellate court “reviews all questions of law *de novo*.” *Hoyler v. State*, 428 S.C. 279, 290, 833 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 2019). “The appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s findings of fact as long as they are reasonably supported by the evidence.” *Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 192, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct. App. 2008).

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Penn National Insurance Policies

Penn National issued a series of insurance policies to Jose Castillo DBA JJA Framing Company and, later, to an entity named JJA Construction, Inc. from 2002 through 2010 (Penn National refers to Jose Castillo the individual as “Castillo,” his sole proprietorship as “JJA

Framing”, the corporate entity as “JJA Construction,” and these business entities collectively as “JJA”). Each of the relevant policies contains a \$500,000 maximum per-occurrence limit of coverage. [Plaintiffs’ Exh. 14, at p. 2 (RII p. 680); Plaintiffs’ Exh. 17, at p. 2 (RII p.681); Plaintiffs’ Ex. 21, at p. 2 (RII p. 822); Plaintiffs’ Ex. 27, at p. 2 (RII p. 895); Plaintiffs’ Ex. 29, at p. 2 (RII p. 950)]. Each of the Penn National Policies contains the following “Conditions In The Event Of Occurrence, Offense, Claim Or Suit”:

#### **SECTION IV – COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY CONDITIONS**

##### **2. Duties In The Event Of Occurrence, Offense, Claim Or Suit**

- a.** You must see to it that we are notified as soon as practicable of an “occurrence” or an offense which may result in a claim. To the extent possible, notice should include:
  - (1) How, when and where the “occurrence” or offense took place;
  - (2) The names and addresses of any injured persons and witnesses; and
  - (3) The nature and location of any injury or damage arising out the “occurrence” or offense.
- b.** If a claim is made or “suit” is brought against any insured, you must:
  - (1) Immediately record the specifics of the claim or “suit” and the date received; and
  - (2) Notify us as soon as practicable.You must see to it that we receive written notice of the claim or “suit” as soon as practicable.
- c.** You and any other involved insured must:
  - (1) Immediately send us copies of any demands, notices, summonses or legal papers received in connection with the claim or “suit”;
  - (2) Authorize us to obtain records and other information;
  - (3) Cooperate with us in the investigation or settlement of the claim or defense against the “suit”; and
  - (4) Assist us, upon our request, in the enforcement of any right against any person or organization which may be liable to the insured because of injury or damage to which this insurance may also apply.
- d.** No insured will, except at the insured’s own cost, voluntarily make a payment, assume any obligation, or incur any expense, other than for first aid, without our consent.

[Plaintiffs’ Exh. 14, at pp. 48-49 (RII pp. 726-727); Plaintiffs’ Exh. 17, at pp. 30-31 (RII pp. 793-

794); Plaintiffs' Exh. 21, at pp. 49-50 (RII pp. 869-870); Plaintiffs' Exh. 27, at pp. 40-41 (RII pp. 933-934); Plaintiffs' Exh. 29, at pp. 42-43 (RIII pp. 990-991)]. Each of the Penn National Policies also contains an endorsement modifying, but not replacing, the "Conditions" language quoted above, titled "Extended Coverage Endorsement General Liability". The endorsement contains language modifying the insured's duties:

## **VII. Duties in the Event of Occurrence, Claim or Suit Redefined**

- b.** The requirement in Condition 2.b of CONDITIONS (Section IV) that you must see to it that we receive notice of a claim or "suit" will not be considered breached unless the breach occurs after such claim or "suit" is know [sic] to:
- (1)** You, if you are an individual;
  - (2)** A partner, if you are a partnership; or
  - (3)** An officer of the corporation or insurance manager, if you are a corporation.

[Plaintiffs' Exh. 14, at p. 60 (RII p. 738); Plaintiffs' Exh. 17, at p. 40 (RII p. 803); Plaintiffs' Exh. 21, at p. 23 (RII p.843); Plaintiffs' Exh. 27, at p. 16 (RII p. 909); Plaintiffs' Exh. 29, at p. 19 (RIII p. 967)].

In each policy the word "you" is defined as "the Named Insured shown in the Declarations, and any other person or organization qualifying as a Named Insured under this policy." [Plaintiffs' Exh. 14, at p. 39 (RII p. 717); Plaintiffs' Exh. 17, at p. 21(RII p. 784); Plaintiffs' Exh. 21, at p. 40 (RII p. 860); Plaintiffs' Exh. 27, at p. 31 (RII p. 924); Plaintiffs' Exh. 29, at p. 33 (RIII p. 981)]. Certain policies – those effective from December 5, 2003 through January 31, 2008 -- contained additional insured endorsements relevant to this insurance coverage dispute. The first two policies were issued under policy number GL9 0601617 to named insured Jose Castillo DBA JJA Framing Company effective from December 5, 2003 to December 5, 2004 (the "2003-04 Policy") [Plaintiffs' Exh. 14 (RII p. 679)] and December 5, 2004 to December 5, 2005 (the "2004-05 Policy") [Plaintiffs' Exh. 17 (RII p. 764)]. Neither of these two policies extends additional insured

status automatically; both instead require an endorsement extending such coverage to entities besides the named insured. Both policies contain endorsement CG 20 37 1001, which amends these policies' "Who Is An Insured" provision to include as an insured "the person or organization shown in the [endorsement's] Schedule [of specifically-named entities], but only with respect to liability arising out of '[the named insured's] work' at the location designated and described in the schedule of this endorsement performed for [the additional insured] and included in the 'products-completed operations hazard.'" [Plaintiffs' Exh. 14, at pp. 18-20 (RII pp. 696-698); Plaintiffs' Exh. 17, at p. 4 (RII p. 767)]. The endorsements attached to these two policies identify three specific Portrait Homes entities as insureds: Portrait Homes entities: Pasquinelli Construction Company, Pasquinelli Management LLC, and Portrait Homes Construction Company. [Plaintiffs' Exh. 14, at pp. 18-20 (RII pp. 696-698); Plaintiffs' Exh. 17, at p. 4 (RII p. 767)].

On March 2, 2005, during the effective period of the 2004-05 Policy, Castillo submitted a Policy Change Request to change the named insured to a newly incorporated entity identified as JJA Construction, Inc. [Plaintiffs' Exh. 18, p. 1 (RII p. 817)]. Castillo executed articles of incorporation to form JJA Construction on December 15, 2004, [Defendant's Exh. 62 (RIV p. 1599); Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, at 380:4-16 (RI p. 471)], and filed them with the North Carolina Department of the Secretary of State on December 17, 2004, [Defendant's Exh. 62 (RIV p. 1599)]. As requested in the change form it received, Penn National changed the named insured on the 2004-05 Policy from Castillo to JJA Construction effective March 2, 2005 through the end of the effective period of the 2004-05 Policy. [Plaintiffs' Exh. 17, at p. 9 (RII p. 772); Plaintiffs' Exh. 19 (RII p. 820)].

Three further policies conferred additional insured status in a different manner. These policies, issued under policy number GL9 0601617 to JJA Construction, were effective from

December 5, 2005 to December 5, 2006 (the “2005-06 Policy”) [Plaintiffs’ Exh. 21 (RII p. 821)], from December 5, 2006 to December 5, 2007 (the “2006-07 Policy”) [Plaintiffs’ Exh. 27 (RII p. 894)], and from December 5, 2007 to January 31, 2008<sup>2</sup> (the “2007-08 Policy”) [Plaintiffs’ Exh. 29 (RIII p. 949)]. These policies all contain an “Automatic Additional Insureds – Owners, Contractors and Subcontractors (Completed Operations)” endorsement, form 71 11 45 0105, that extends additional insured status to a person or entity for completed operations risks automatically where required by a written contract between the named insured (JJA Construction) and that other person or entity. [Plaintiffs’ Exh. 21, at p. 29 (RII p. 849); Plaintiffs’ Exh. 27, at p. 20 (RII p. 913); Plaintiffs’ Exh. 29, at p. 23 (RIII p. 971)].<sup>3</sup> The scope of coverage offered by this endorsement extends only to liability for “bodily injury” and “property damage” caused in whole or in part by the named insured’s work for the additional insured at the location or project designated in the contract. [*Id.*]. The relevant language in the “Automatic Additional Insureds – Owners, Contractors and Subcontractors (Completed Operations)” endorsement reads:

A. The following provision is added to **SECTION II – WHO IS AN INSURED:**

6. Any person(s) or organization(s) (referred to below as additional insured) with whom you are required in a written contract or agreement to name as an additional insured for the “products-completed operations hazard”, but only with respect to “bodily injury” or “property damage” caused, in whole or in part, by “your work”, at the location or project designated and described in the contract or agreement, performed for that additional insured and included in the “products-completed operations hazard”.

A person’s or organization’s status as an additional insured under this endorsement ends when the obligation to provide additional insured status for the “products-completed operations hazard” in the

---

<sup>2</sup> Penn National cancelled the 2007-08 Policy on January 31, 2008 due to JJA Construction, Inc.’s failure to pay premiums owed, terminating coverage as of that date. [Plaintiffs’ Exh. 31 (RIII p. 1010)].

<sup>3</sup> While the additional insured endorsement contained in the 2007-08 Policy was an updated form, the insuring language it contained is functionally identical to the language contained in prior versions of the endorsement contained in the 2005-06 Policy and 2006-07 Policy. [*Compare* Plaintiffs’ Exh. 23 & 28 (RII pp. 888 & 948) *with* Plaintiffs’ Exh. 30 (RIII p. 1009)].

written contract or agreement ends.

[*Id.*]. Penn National issued JJA Construction two additional policies later in time, but these policies did not contain additional insured coverage for completed operations.

2. JJA's Work at The Persimmon Hill Project

Portrait Homes was responsible for construction and development of a townhome project of three hundred eighty-eight townhome units spread across seventy-four buildings in Berkeley County, South Carolina known as Persimmon Hill (the "Persimmon Hill Project"). [Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, 455:19-23, 503:5-25 (RI pp. 371, 390)]. Construction permits were issued beginning in 2002 while occupancy permits were issued on a rolling basis as buildings were completed from 2003 through the project's completion in 2006. [*Id.* at 456:5-24 (RI p. 372); Defendant's Exh. 16 (Certificates of Occupancy for the Persimmon Hill Project issued by the City of Goose Creek / RIV p. 1295)].

Portrait Homes hired Jose Castillo, a sole proprietor doing business as JJA Framing, to perform framing work on certain buildings at the Persimmon Hill Project. [Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, 458:1-8 (RI p. 373)]. JJA Framing was one of several framers involved in the project and performed work on a number of the units built as part of the Persimmon Hill Project. [*Id.*]. The trial court found, based upon an estimation made by Portrait Homes' lawyer in the Persimmon Hill Litigation, that JJA Framing performed roughly 85% of the framing on the project. HOA Order, at p. 3/RI p. 8 (citing Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, at p. 97 / RI p. 269)). However, neither Portrait Homes nor Castillo produced records to show on which buildings JJA Framing performed framing work and which buildings were framed by another entity. [Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, at 143:25-145:3 (RI pp. 291-293)].

JJA Framing's work at the Persimmon Hill Project was governed by a "Housing and

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