THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2014-CP-08-02757

RECEIVED

Sep 28 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Portrait Homes – South Carolina,
LLC; Portrait Homes – Persimmon
Hill, LLC; and The Persimmon Hill
Homeowners Association, Inc.,

Respondents,

v.

Pennsylvania National Mutual
Casualty Insurance Company

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2020-000735

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE PERSIMMON HILL HOMEOWNERS
ASSOCIATION, INC.**

John T. Chakeris
S.C. Bar No.: 7060
Alicia D. Petit
S.C. Bar No.: 102801
The Chakeris Law Firm
231 Calhoun Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 853-5678

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

Lastly, Penn argues that they could not provide a defense because a lawyer is ethically prohibited from representing a client without his consent for representation. This argument from Penn is not part of any ROR letter and not contained anywhere within its claims log, and there is no evidence that this defense was considered at any point in time by Penn until long after the declaratory judgment and bad faith claims were being litigated in this action. At trial Penn argued this as a basis for not providing JJA with a defense, and post-trial asserts it as a basis for which Penn was prejudiced. The consent for representation and the contractual agreement for Penn to provide representation for JJA is found in the insuring agreement: “We will have the right and duty to defend the insured against any “suit” seeking those damages. . . .” (Pl. Exs. 13A, at 25;14, at 39; 17, at 21;21, at 40;27, at 31;29, at 33;33, at 33;34, at 26)(emphasis added). Furthermore, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has provided the following in regard to the intricacies between the insurer, insured, and defense attorney:

[A]n insurance company that hires an attorney to represent its insured is in a unique position in relation to the resulting attorney-client relationship. Pursuant to the insurance contract, the insurer has a duty to defend its insured, and must compensate the attorney for his time in defense of his client. If the insured settles or has judgment imposed against him, the insurance contract ordinarily requires the insurer to pay the settlement or judgment. Many insurance contracts provide the insurer has a right to investigate and settle claims as a representative of its insured. Finally, the insurer’s right to settle must be exercised in good faith, and that duty of good faith requires the insurer to act reasonably in protecting the insured from liability in excess of the policy limits.

Sentry Select Ins. Co. v. Maybank Law Firm, LLC, 826 S.E.2d 270, 272 (S.C. 2019)(citing *Tyger River Pine Co. v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 163 S.C. 229, 234-35, 161 S.E. 491, 493-94 (1931)).

Further, Judge Young specifically ruled that this basis asserted by Penn for failing to defend JJA, namely – a supposed requirement that the insured affirmatively approve the attorney before the attorney could act – was not mentioned in any ROR letters by Penn and was therefore waived.

See Post-Trial Motions and Punitive Damages Order at p. 28 (“This argument from Penn National is not part of any reservation of rights letter and not contained anywhere in its claim log.”). Penn did not appeal this ruling, and under the two-issue rule, it is thus the law of the case. “Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds, because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010)(citing *Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 525, 476 S.E.2d 475, 477 (1996)).

V. The Trial Court’s factual finding that Penn acted in bad faith as to JJA and Portrait is not wholly unsupported by the evidence and meets the legal standards required

“The elements of a cause of action for bad faith refusal to pay . . . benefits under a contract of insurance are: (1) the existence of a mutually binding contract of insurance between the plaintiff and the defendant; (2) refusal by the insurer to pay benefits due under the contract; (3) resulting from the insurer’s bad faith or unreasonable action in breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing arising on the contract; (4) causing damage to the insured.” *Crossley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 307 S.C. 354, 359, 415 S.E.2d 393, 396–97 (1992)(citations omitted). “[A]n insured need not prove a breach of an express contractual provision as a prerequisite to bringing a bad faith cause of action.” *BMW of N. Am., LLC v. Complete Auto Recon. Servs.*, 399 S.C. 444, 453, 731 S.E.2d 902, 907 (Ct. App. 2012)(citing *Tadlock Painting Co. v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 322 S.C. 498, 504, 473 S.E.2d 52, 55 (1996)). “An insurer is not insulated from liability for bad faith merely because there is no clear precedent resolving a coverage issue raised under the particular facts of the case.” *Mixson, Inc. v. Am. Loyalty Ins. Co.*, 349 S.C. 394, 400, 562 S.E.2d 659, 662 (Ct. App. 2002). “Whether an insurance company is liable for bad faith must be judged by the evidence before it at the time it denied the claim or if the insurance company did not specifically

deny the claim by the evidence it had before it at the time the suit was filed.” *Howard v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 316 S.C. 445, 448, 450 S.E.2d 582, 584 (1994). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held “that if an insured can demonstrate bad faith or unreasonable action by the insurer in processing a claim under their mutually binding insurance contract, he can recover consequential damages in a tort action. Actual damages are not limited by the contract. Further if he can demonstrate the insurer’s actions were willful or in reckless disregard of the insured’s rights, he can recover punitive damages.” *Nichols v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 279 S.C. 336, 340, 306 S.E.2d 616, 619 (1983). “Absent the threat of a tort action, the insurance company can, with complete impunity, deny any claim they wish, whether valid or not.” *Id.* “It is well settled in South Carolina that when a defendant insured prevails in a declaratory judgment action, the insured is entitled to recover attorney’s fees.” *State Auto Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Reynolds*, 357 S.C. 219, 226, 592 S.E.2d 633, 637 (2004)(citing *Hegler v. Gulf Ins. Co.*, 270 S.C. 548, 243 S.E.2d 443 (1978)).

a. As to JJA’s claims assigned to the HOA

Penn cannot meet its burden to show “no evidence” of Judge Young’s findings of bad faith. While S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20 does not give rise to a private cause of action, it is instructive in evaluating the conduct of Penn. Penn did not undertake to perform an investigation of this claim as testified to by adjuster Gross. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 370:1-17). Penn failed to contact witnesses, hire experts, ask Mr. Castillo for pertinent information when its IA was face-to-face with him, and failed to gather any information through its own investigative efforts of this claim which Penn knew was a multi-million-dollar claim from the time it opened the claims file. *See* Trial Tr. vol. 1, 336:11-23, 370:1-17, 436:4-7; Trial Tr. vol. 2, 99:24-100:15, 121:16-19. Both S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20 and the case law of South Carolina require a good faith duty to perform a reasonable

investigation of claims. *Flynn v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 281 S.C. 391, 395, 315 S.E.2d. 817, 820 (Ct. App. 1984). The reason Penn refused to conduct any investigation of the claim was because Penn required Mr. Castillo to specifically request a defense from Penn prior to Penn hiring counsel to provide a defense, irrespective of whether the Complaint triggered coverage. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 331:8-13). This unilateral imposition by Penn of the requirement that an insured must request a defense prior to being provided one was something Gross believed was wrong and improper since it was not a term of the insuring agreement. Gross went to management with his concerns. *Id.* at 332:16-333:6-17. While home office in-house claims counsel, Adam Parsons, tried to distance himself and Penn from such a position in this claim by stating that Gross was mistaken and that Penn requiring the insured to request a defense prior to counsel being hired was not Penn's directive, the memorialization of the meeting Greg Gross, Gary Gibson and Adam Parsons had regarding this claim in the claims log note dated July 10, 2013 is contrary to Parsons' testimony at trial. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 143:23-144:10; 276:10-17). The July 10, 2013 claim note was just 15 days after the claim was opened and the second day of entry into the claims log. It states, "AP advises that if the NI has not been served and/or has not requested a defense we cannot retain counsel on their behalf." (Pl. Ex. 58, 2). Additionally, the claims file is replete with claim notes that Mr. Castillo would not be provided a defense until he affirmatively requested one. *Id.* at 2, 3, 8, & 9. Judge Young, as fact finder, reviewed the evidence and witnessed the demeanor of the witnesses, including the Penn witnesses. The trial court's finding that Penn acted in bad faith, and recklessly so, is supported by the evidence and reasonable inferences, therefore. The trial court was entitled to find that Penn was manufacturing reasons it knew were not in its policy to try to justify a denial of the defense and coverage here. The fact Penn undertook the defense/protecting in obtaining an extension for the time to respond to avoid default for JJA pursuant to its policy duty, before

speaking directly with Mr. Castillo, completely undermines any supposed basis Penn had for first needing to have Mr. Castillo “request” a defense (to which he was already entitled under the policy), prior to taking action to defend him.

Further, Penn touts all of its efforts as exceedingly reasonable in its attempt to contact Mr. Castillo about this claim. Penn’s underwriting file available to Gross contains contact information, to include phone numbers and e-mails, none of which were used by the claims department to communicate with him. Mr. Castillo testified that Penn was able to reach him when performing year end premium audits when Penn was seeking to collect additional premiums. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 366:9-13). Penn also contends that sending three (3) ROR letters, the first two of which were mailed to an address that had been stale for four years and the other returned certified mail with no follow-up, was reasonable conduct. Penn contends this despite the fact that the day the first ROR letter was sent there was a simultaneous claims log entry that same day noting Mr. Castillo’s correct address. Moreover, even after Penn’s IA had a face-to-face conversation with Mr. Castillo at his correct address in NC, Penn proceeded to send another ROR to the four years stale address in Ladson, SC. (HOA Ex. 15). Penn asserts the lack of responsiveness from JJA due to Penn’s own errors of sending these letters to the wrong address as supporting justification that JJA was non-cooperative. All of this conduct justifies the trial court’s bad faith and reckless, willful and wanton findings.

An insurer should not knowingly misrepresent to its insureds pertinent facts or policy provisions relating to coverage at issue or provide deceptive or misleading information with respect to coverages. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20. From the time Penn opened a claim in this matter, it knew this was a multi-million-dollar claim and the magnitude of the defects and damages at the Persimmon Hill project. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 336:11-23, 436:4-7). Penn never informed Mr.

Castillo of these pertinent facts it possessed or asked McLeod to do so when face-to-face with Mr. Castillo. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 99:24-100:15;101:4-7;121:16-19). Penn also failed to inform Mr. Castillo that a defense was a policy benefit for which JJA had paid and was covered within the policy. *Id.* at 122:14-20;125:10-19. Mr. Castillo testified that had he been told a lawyer would have been hired at no cost to him since this had been paid for as part of his premium payments he would have responded differently to McLeod and would have told her JJA wanted a defense. *Id.* at 397:12-398:2. Further, Penn abandoned the defense/protection it undertook without informing Castillo of the undertaking of the defense/protection or abandonment thereof. Misrepresentation of policy benefits and deceptive acts regarding coverages and benefits can occur by both providing misleading information and by failing to disclose pertinent facts. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20(1)(Rev. 2015).

Penn's insurance expert in this case, Bernd Heinze, testified Penn acted in bad faith in a 2007 matter in Delaware County, Pennsylvania in the case of *Pennsylvania National v. Johnson*. Mr. Heinze testified that in this 2007 case, Penn failed to conduct an investigation of the facts surrounding the claim which was in derogation of the standards and practices of the insurance industry constituting bad faith. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 605:1-19). Mr. Heinze further testified that in the 2007 case, Penn willingly took no part in the arbitration letting a damage award be entered against their insured and made no efforts to protect its insureds' rights constituting bad faith. *Id.* at 607:15-609:9. Additionally, Mr. Heinze testified that the failure of Penn to file a declaratory judgment action was in derogation of the standards and practices of the insurance industry and in bad faith. *Id.* at 609:10-25. Mr. Heinze sought to differentiate what appears to be the same conduct by Penn in the instant case by relying on the insured tendering to Penn in the 2007 Pennsylvania case. *Id.*

at 608:10-11. Hence, the Penn expert essentially supported that it acted in bad faith here, as the trial court found.

Throughout this claim there were numerous other instances both individually and collectively of Penn's unreasonable, and reckless, bad faith actions. As noted previously, these include sending RORs to a knowingly incorrect address and using the insured not responding to said letters as a basis to assert insured non-cooperation, quoting incorrect policy language in the RORs that had been amended, noting in the claims log five (5) different times that JJA was required to request a defense before Penn's duty to defend was triggered, when such was untrue, noting in the claims log that the claim should be denied for non-cooperation just one week after Penn knew the insured was served, violating its own policies and procedures, and requesting an extension to respond to the Complaint without any intention of filing an Answer. *Order as to Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc.'s Claims*, at 40-41. Penn contends that the competent evidence does not support a finding that its conduct was willful or reckless. The trial court disagreed. The trial court found "that Penn National knowingly misrepresented to JJA the coverages and policy benefits for the policies at issue in this case by failing to disclose pertinent facts and information to JJA when asking whether JJA wanted a defense." *Order as to Persimmon Hill Homeowners Association, Inc.'s Claims*, at 40. Lastly, to the extent Penn is making legal arguments and not arguing the total lack of evidence supporting the trial court's findings, Penn's arguments are not preserved for appeal, as it made no motion for nonsuit and no motion for judgment. Hence, the trial court should be affirmed.

b. As to Portrait's claims assigned to the HOA

As to Portrait's claim of bad faith, Penn acknowledges that it did not handle Portrait's request for policy benefits in a timely manner but contends that the lack of timeliness in processing

the claim is essentially irrelevant because there is no additional insured coverage for Portrait under the policies in the first place. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 11:22-25). The trial court, however, was not persuaded by this argument and found Portrait to be an additional insured under five (5) Penn policies. Further, as noted above, the trial court found that Penn owed Portrait a duty of defense based on the allegations in the underlying complaint which caused damages to Portrait, and that Penn acted in bad faith in its breach of such duty. Penn has failed to appeal this ruling. It is thus the law of the case. *See Order Regarding Additional Insured Coverage*, at 43-56; *Post-Trial Motions and Punitive Damages Order*, at 20-22.

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